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Chairman’s Message
	 We	experienced	another	year	of	 impressive	sales	growth,	and	 record	profitability,	achieved	during	a	period	 in	
which	significant	resources	were	invested	in	improvement	to	our	systems’	response	to	FATCA	and	preparedness	for	CRS.	
When	so	much	focus	is	on	compliance	and	so	much	executive	time	and	energy	dedicated	to	regulatory	matters,	it	is	almost	
surprising	that	business	development	achieves	any	positive	results.	Our	growth,	as	last	year,	was	achieved	across	virtually	all	
our	principal	revenue	lines,	and	was	not	due	to	one	off	or	exceptional	transactions.	The	diversification	of	revenue	sources,	
both	geographically	and	in	terms	of	product,	has	served	us	well	in	the	past	under	volatile	conditions	and	continues	to	do	so	
in	these	challenging	market	conditions.	

	 Throughout	the	financial	year	the	de-risking	of	major	financial	institutions	impacted	negatively	around	the	world,	
complicating	 banking	 relationships	 and	 driving	 business	 away	 from	 global	 institutions	 to	 smaller	 regional	 banks.	 This	
inevitably	has	complicated	cross	border	transactions,	increasing	costs	and	adversely	impacting	on	trade	and	global	markets,	
especially	 in	respect	of	 international	receipts	and	payments.	However,	the	reality	is	coming	home	as	industry	redefinition	
takes	on	greater	momentum,	and	alternative	technologies	and	providers	offer	other	solutions.	It	is	encouraging	to	see	that	
the	approach	by	the	majors	to	de-risking	is	now	meeting	with	political	unease	resulting	in	some	modification	to	policy.

	 We	are	in	an	industry	in	transition,	an	industry	where	regulation	is	effectively	the	cause	of	restructuring	and	renewal.	
The	exciting	aspect	of	this	transition	is	that	it	favours	the	smaller,	more	agile,	more	creative	financial	institution.	Gone	are	
the	frontiers	of	onshore	and	offshore,	thus	leveling	the	playing	field	for	financial	institutions	whether	large	or	small	wherever	
located.	While	short	 term	reaction	to	this	 renewal	 tends	to	 impact	negatively	on	the	SMEs,	whether	 in	financial	or	other	
sectors,	it	is	giving	rise	to	tremendous	opportunities	across	financial	sectors	around	the	world.	Whereas,	for	so	many	years	
long	suffering	customers	have	been	subject	to	the	prescriptive	offering	of	the	major	financial	institutions,	the	hegemony	of	
the	latter	has	demonstrably	failed	both	customers	and	markets.	To	our	benefit	the	packaging	of	financial	products	which	pay	
lip	service	to	‘service’	is	no	longer	acceptable,	and	what	has	become	a	growing	reality	is	the	palpable	need	for	real	service	
expressed	by	the	entrepreneurial	wealth	generating	classes.

	 Winterbotham’s	has	been	a	relationship	business	from	inception	and	for	us	little	changes	in	this	regard.	Organising	
our	services	around	the	customer	and	his/her	needs,	and	contributing	results,	is	what	we	have	been	doing	over	twenty-five	
and	more	years	of	history.	Keeping	our	offering	simple,	communicating	honestly	with	clarity,	and	delivering	personally	to	
our	client	has	helped	us	proactively	to	embrace	regulation	and	to	put	our	culture	to	work.	We	focus	on	innovative	solutions,	
striving	to	give	value	across	a	broad	range	of	services.	In	this	way	we	are	optimizing	diverse	sources	of	revenue	and	thus	
producing	solid	and	sustainable	levels	of	profit.	

	 After	relinquishing	day-to-day	responsibility	for	our	Hong	Kong	operation	in	January	this	year,	my	focus	is	primarily	
on	helping	to	develop	our	strategy.	Disruptive	change	arising	from	the	US	elections,	continued	weak	economic	growth	in	
most	of	Europe,	on	top	of	which	Brexit,	slower	growth	in	China,	concerns	about	Russia,	and	the	situation	in	Syria,	make	life	
especially	difficult	for	small	and	midsize	companies,	on	top	of	which	an	uncertain	US	and	international	economy	create	an	
extremely	challenging	environment.	To	strengthen	our	approach	to	disruptive	change,	we	are	 investing	in	enhancing	our	
customer	experience,	putting	an	emphasis	on	operational	investments,	particularly	improving	our	technology	platform,	and	
on	further	geographical	expansion.	In	this	context,	I	am	delighted	to	report	the	opening	of	Winterbotham	Corporate	and	
Funds	Services	(Cayman)	Limited.	We	have	used	the	Cayman	jurisdiction	over	many	years,	but	never	before	had	our	own	
facility	there.	Given	the	success	of	our	fund	administration	business	and	the	development	of	our	operations	in	Asia	where	
Cayman	is	the	leading	investment	fund	jurisdiction,	the	need	to	expand	and	set	up	infrastructure	in	Cayman	was	necessary	
to	enhance	our	funds	services	offering	and	better	service	clients.	
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	 Further	geographical	expansion	is	under	consideration	with	the	objective	of	improving	our	receipts	and	payments	
services	and	reducing	dependence	on	intermediaries.	Similarly,	we	are	seeking	to	diversify	the	jurisdictions	in	which	we	act	
as	trustees.	Key	to	these	developments	will	be	identifying	talent,	to	strengthen	our	existing	head	office	team	as	well	as	to	run	
operations	in	Cayman	and	elsewhere.	

	 The	 transition	 in	 the	 industry,	 the	 restructuring	 and	 renewal,	 present	 us	 with	 unique	 opportunities	 for	 our	
development.	We	are	seeking	enhancement	and	innovation	in	our	products	and	services	to	support	the	quality	of	 life	of	
our	clients.	Customer	supremacy	is	driving	new	competition	from	non-financial	sector	companies,	FinTech	and	other	forms	
of	delivering	substitute	banking	services,	 funding	and	payments	without	banks.	Clearly,	 traditional	operating	models	are	
no	longer	working	and	no	longer	generate	the	revenues	or	returns	that	will	support	the	infrastructure	necessary	to	doing	
business	 in	 the	financial	 sector.	 Information	 inputs	are	 the	key	 to	 reacting	with	 sufficient	 speed	and	efficiency	 to	 secure	
market	share	ahead	of	the	pack,	and	to	identify,	monitor	and	control	new	sources	of	risk	that	undoubtedly	are	appearing	in	
this	transition.

	 To	the	old	saying	there	are	two	certainties	in	life:	‘death	and	taxes’,	we	can	add	a	third:	‘regulation’.	We	move	
forward	in	the	knowledge	that	the	complexity	and	cost	of	regulation	will	only	increase.	Greater	compliance	efficiency,	and	
developing	an	optimum	governance	model,	are	required	in	order	to	ensure	that	the	organization	can	continue	to	develop	
business	with	confidence	while	securing	adequate	margins.	Cybersecurity	is	also	uppermost	in	our	thoughts	as	the	pace	of	
change,	restructuring	and	renewal	quickens.	Recent	events	have	demonstrated	the	risks	inherent	in	technology	development	
and	application	and	we	will	continue	to	invest	significantly	in	this	area	which	is	so	critical	to	our	business.		

	 As	a	relationship	business	since	inception,	we	are	confident	in	our	ability	to	partner	with	clients,	providing	structure	
and	processes	and	assuming	roles,	in	the	context	of	their	goals	in	order	to	better	contribute	to	their	success.	Through	being	
fully	engaged,	and	with	the	knowledge	and	understanding	of	what	needs	to	be	achieved,	we	can	provide	fast,	and	flexible	
tailor	made	 solutions	which	 are	 effective	 and	 compliant.	 The	 current	 environment	 provides	 us	with	 greater	 opportunity	
to	build	on	the	creativity	of	our	people,	 improving	their	performance	through	 investment	 in	technology	and	 in	doing	so	
enhance	the	Winterbotham	brand.	We	have	every	intention	of	achieving	this	objective	across	the	depth	and	diversity	of	our	
services.

	 Congratulations	to	our	CEO	and	his	 team	for	another	extraordinarily	successful	year.	My	thanks	also	go	to	our	
committed	and	dedicated	Board	of	Directors	who	have	given	us	their	full	support	throughout	this	financial	year.

Geoffrey	Hooper
Chairman
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CEO´s Year-end Report on Operations
	 After	a	year	commemorating	our	25th	Anniversary	and	with	continued	hard	work	and	dedication,	I	am	pleased	to	
report	that,	for	a	second	year	running,	we	have	achieved	a	record	result,	the	best	in	our	history.

	 Consistently	applying	our	strategy	of	providing	a	qualified	variety	of	corporate,	fiduciary,	fund	administration	and	
financial	services,	while	managing	our	risk	exposure	rigorously,	has	helped	us	produce	these	exceptional	results.	Added	to	
this,	our	geographical	strategy	of	servicing	clients	across	a	broad	base	of	both	developed	nations	and	emerging	markets	has	
provided	a	revenue	diversification	which	contributed	to	achieving	optimum	performance	across	all	revenue	lines.	

	 I	 thank	my	 team	again	 for	 their	 tremendous	efforts	during	 the	year.	Their	contribution	has	been	 fantastic,	and	
it	 is	a	privilege	to	work	with	their	support.	We	are	confident	that,	as	we	achieve	our	targets	and	set	new	ones,	and	fulfil	
commitments	to	our	stakeholders,	we	will	continue	to	grow	and	achieve	better	results	in	the	future.	We	continue	to	strive	for	
a	stronger	organization,	more	productive	relationships	and	greater	efficiencies.	

	 In	a	world	that	changes	rapidly,	and	particularly	with	the	speed	in	which	our	industry	is	evolving,	we	must	continue	
focusing	 on	 innovation.	 Uncertainties	 lie	 ahead,	 and	 we	 face	 an	 array	 of	 challenges	 and	 opportunities.	 However	 I	 feel	
optimistic	for	the	future	of	our	business,	in	what	we	can	deliver	to	our	clients	and	stakeholders,	and	in	continuing	to	perform	
at	an	optimum	level	and	with	strong	growth	potential.

	 This	year	the	company	continued	to	grow	significantly.	Operating	revenues	closed	at	USD18.9	million,	representing	
a	23%	increase	over	the	previous	financial	period,	and	net	income	before	employee	participation	rose	70%	over	last	year.	

	 All	our	administrative	business	lines	continued	last	year’s	growth	pattern.	Our	Trust	Division	grew	by	40%,	Corporate	
Services	by	8%,	our	Fund	Services	division	by	15%	and	services	to	financial	institutions	more	than	doubled	respect	to	last	
year.	

	 On	the	transactional	side,	we	also	saw	a	strong	performance	throughout	our	business	lines.	We	continue	to	hold	
just	under	USD	1.5	billion	between	bank	and	investment	account	balances,	and	saw	an	increase	in	our	receipts	and	payments	
business	with	a	rise	of	over	35%	in	our	Banking	Services.	We	do	expect	a	change	in	this	area	next	year,	as	we	have	refocused	
our	 banking	 strategy	 to	 service	 only	 those	 clients	 which	 also	 utilize	 our	 administrative	 business	 lines,	 with	 our	 banking	
platform.	In	turn,	this	will	have	a	negative	impact	on	the	growth	of	revenue	from	banking	services,	reducing	fee	volume.	
However,	in	the	longer	term,	in	today’s	regulatory	environment,	we	believe	that	this	will	make	the	bank	a	stronger	unit,	more	
desirable,	and	provide	us	with	a	greater	opportunity	to	increase	margins	going	forward.

	 Brokerage	grew	by	16%	and	our	Custody	division	increased	42%.		We	had	a	decrease	of	30%	in	the	revenue	from	
our	FX	desk	following	what	had	been	a	record	in	the	previous	year.	IT	services	to	third	parties	performed	as	expected	with	a	
rise	of	7%.	We	anticipate	important	growth	in	this	division	moving	forward	as	we	innovate	to	include	more	technology	based	
solutions	and	enhancements	for	our	clients,	particularly	in	reporting	for	the	Common	Reporting	Standards	–	CRS

	 Operating	expenses	increased	by	15%	compared	to	last	year.	Achieving	the	revenue	growth,	without	over-exposing	
on	the	cost	side,	continues	to	be	a	priority	for	management.	

	 Notwithstanding,	 operating	 expenses	 were	 slightly	 lower	 than	 budget	 and	 we	 were	 able	 to	 utilize	 capacity	
effectively,	 and	 improve	 the	 overall	 costs	 ratio	 year	 on	 year.	Our	main	 increase	 in	 costs	 is	 reflected	 by	HR,	 up	 13%	 as	
compared	to	the	previous	year.	Even	so,	in	the	current	year,	we	anticipate	we	will	continue	to	hire	staff	in	line	with	our	growth	
projections.	Marketing	is	up	21%	from	last	year,	mainly	due	to	celebrations	for	our	25th	Anniversary	in	three	countries,	and	
premises	costs	rose	by	10%	as	a	result	of	the	need	to	increase		offsite	storage	facilities.	

	 Revenue	from	our	Hong	Kong	operation	grew	by	63%,	which	is	encouraging	as	we	welcomed	a	new	Chief	Executive	
Officer	on	January	1st	2016.	We	continue	to	be	optimistic	as	to	our	Asian	operation	contributing	considerably	more	to	our	
revenue.	
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	 Growth	 in	human	Resources	 continues	 to	be	a	 significant	 challenge	 for	management	 as	we	 strive	 to	enhance	
the	team	with	the	skill	sets	needed	to	assure	future	development.	 I	am	very	pleased	with	management’s	commitment	 in	
the	continuation	of	our	efforts	to	enhance	leadership	and	organizational	skills	while	juggling	daily	business	commitments.	
We	continue	implementing	the	tools	acquired	during	our	 leadership	program	successfully,	and	the	results	of	our	 internal	
employee	survey	reflect	both	this	commitment	as	well	as	its	success.	Well	done	to	all.	We	must	continue	doing	our	best	to	
create	the	conditions	for	success	for	each	individual	staff	member	and	the	company	as	a	whole.	

	 Staff	 training	 throughout	 the	 organization	 continued	 to	 be	 supported	 and	 encouraged.	 Language	 tuition	was	
provided	with	an	emphasis	on	Mandarin,	Spanish,	Portuguese	and	English.	Specialized	management	courses	included,	trust,	
fund,	securities,	business	administration,	anti-money	laundering	and	compliance	courses.	

	 We	continue	to	 invest	and	 increase	resources	on	matters	 related	to	compliance,	 risk	management,	anti-money	
laundering	and	regulatory	reporting	and	oversight.	Focus	on	FATCA	compliance,	and	now	the	upcoming	CRS,	is	paramount	
to	supporting	a	successful	operation	in	the	future.	With	technology	development	and	a	strong	commitment	by	our	team,	we	
have	successfully	implemented	FACTA	and	are	well	underway	for	the	implementation	of	CRS	in	all	our	offices.

	 The	roles	of	our	internal	audit	department	and	compliance	officers	are	paramount	to	our	business,	and	we	have	
continued	to	invest	in	these	units,	in	their	training	and	knowledge	base.	

	 Recognizing	 the	 fantastic	 effort	 of	 the	 team’s	 hard	work	 and	dedication,	 for	 the	 second	 consecutive	 year,	 the	
maximum	 bonus	 entitlement	 for	 those	 who	 qualified	 was	 paid	 to	 staff	 through	 our	 employee	 profit	 participation	 and	
performance	bonus	schemes.	Management,	who	qualified,	were	awarded	discretionary	bonuses	representing	a	significant	
increase	compared	to	the	previous	financial	year.	

	 We	feel	confident	in	our	ability	to	meet	the	challenges	and	the	changes	in	legislation	and	regulation	as	these	are	
implemented	during	the	upcoming	year	and	into	the	future.	As	the	world	becomes	totally	immersed	in	transparency,	it	is	
down	to	the	service	provider	to	differentiate	itself	from	its	competitors	and	perform	at	the	level	and	efficiency	required.	As	
opposed	to	 leveraging	 jurisdictionally	perceived	advantages,	diversifying	structures	around	 jurisdictions,	players	now	will	
have	to	demonstrate	their	ability	 in	providing	proper	value	added	services.	We	believe	that	clients	will	consolidate	their	
relationships	around	a	particular	service	provider,	primarily	in	one	location.	As	this	is	integral	to	our	existing	business	model,	it	
generates	a	great	opportunity	for	Winterbotham	to	continue	developing	and	enhancing	the	model,	and	to	continue	building	
its	client	base.	Evolution	in	the	market	is	generating	fabulous	opportunities	which	we	believe	will	be	reflected	in	our	future	
results.

	 As	I	said	last	year,	exciting	times	are	ahead.	We	still	have	a	lot	to	do,	and	much	to	achieve.	Always	provided	we	
keep	our	focus	and	dedication,	I	have	no	doubt	that	we	will	achieve	even	better	results	in	the	future.
 
	 We	thank	our	clients,	staff,	partners,	and	correspondents,	as	well	as	the	regulators,	for	their	guidance	and	unerring	
support	 for	Winterbotham.	 In	an	unprecedented	era	of	 low	to	negative	 interest	 rates,	a	complex	political	and	economic	
environment	full	of	uncertainty,	we	have	performed	solidly	and	continue	to	make	good	progress	in	adapting	the	business	to	
meet	the	challenges	of	the	future.

Ivan	Hooper
CEO
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Gross Revenue Breakdown
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Shareholders’ Equity

Ratios

Net	Income	/	Total	Income Net	Income	/	Shareholders´	Equity	 Total	Debtors	/	Total	Income	

15,000

14,000

13,000

12,000

11,000

10,000

9,000

8,000

7,000

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

00
0'

s 
of

  U
SD

's

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

9



Regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	The	Bahamas	and	the	Securities	Commission
The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	is	a	bank	and	trust	company,

mutual	fund	administrator	and	broker/dealer.

Regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Uruguay	Winterbotham	Fiduciaria	S.A.
is	a	fund	administrator	and	trust	company.

Regulated	in	Hong	Kong	under	the	Trustee	Ordinance
The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	(Hong	Kong)	Limited

is	a	registered	trust	company.

The	main	divisions	are:

The	Winterbotham	Merchant	Bank,	Winterbotham	Trust	&	Fiduciary	Services,
Winterbotham	International	Securities,	Winterbotham	Fund	Services,
Winterbotham	Corporate	Services,	Winterbotham	Corporate	Finance

and	Winterbotham	Outsourcing	Services.

The	Winterbotham	Merchant	Bank,
provides	Cash	Management	services	to	a	broad	range	of	businesses	involved	in
cross-border	financial	transactions,	trade	and	investment.		Receive	and	pay	money
internationally	with	ease	and	efficiency	and	optimize	overnight	placement	of

surplus	liquidity.

Accounts	are	multi-currency	and	may	be	established	in	any	world	currency.

Winterbotham	Trust	&	Fiduciary	Services
Comprehensive	trust	administration	services	including	PTC’s	to	meet	both	the

objectives	of	corporations	and	individuals.

Corporate	trust	services	–	escrow	agent,	loan	trustee,	dissolutions	trusts.

Winterbotham	Corporate	Services
Prime	solutions	for	complex	situations	structuring

transactions	and	operations	for	corporate	customers	and	their	shareholders.
Proven	ability	in	the	implementation	of	cross	border	trade	and	investment.
Added	value	in	the	provision	of	administrative	and	accounting	(IFRS)	services.
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Winterbotham	Funds	Services
Tailor-made	provision	of	advisory,

licensing,	and	incorporation	services	to	fund	sponsors,
promoters	and	managers.

Providing	domiciliary,	administrative,	registrar	and	transfer	agent,
compliance,	and	full	accounting	services	(daily,	weekly,	monthly,	quarterly	NAV)

to	investment	funds,	including	hedge,	private	equity,	venture	capital	and	alternative
investment	funds.

Execution,	clearing,	custody	and	asset	servicing.

Global	Custody	platform	via
Winterbotham	Custody	Services

Winterbotham	International	Securities,
provides	non-discretionary	–	execution	only	–	brokerage	services.

Executing	and	trading	fixed	income	and	equities	–	specializing	in	emerging	markets.

Winterbotham	Corporate	Finance
Providing	corporate	finance,	merger	&	acquisition,

and	structured	trade	finance	services	to	middle-market
corporations	in	Mercosur,	Caribbean	and	Asia	Pacific
regions	and	for	companies	seeking	to	undertake

business	or	investments	in	Latin	America	and	China.

The	division	is	also	actively	engaged	in	providing
both	equity	and	debt	financing	solutions	and	in	

advising	on	joint-venture	or	acquisition	strategies	for
its	clients.

Winterbotham	Outsourcing	Services
Provides	administrative,	IT	(support	and	contingency),
compliance,	accounting	services	and	physical	presence
infrastructure	on	an	outsourced	basis	to	financial

institutions	and	corporations.
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Board of Directors
Geoffrey Hooper, Chairman – Director 
Established	Winterbotham	in	1990.	Previously	Geoffrey	was	Vice	President	and	Senior	Area	Representative	for	Lloyds	
Bank	 International	Private	Banking,	a	part	of	LLoyds	Bank	Plc,	and	a	director	of	Lloyds	 (IPB)	Americas	SA	With	more	
than	30	years	experience	in	International	banking	and	financial	services	Geoffrey	has	worked	in	the	UK.	Spain,	and	Latin	
America	with	Lloyds	Bank	Plc,	Natwest	 lnternational	Trust	Corporation	(formerly	Roywest	Trust	Corporation),	the	Arab	
Latin	American	Bank	(Arlabank)	and	Tradition	International	S.A.

Ivan Hooper, Director
Ivan,	Winterbotham`s	CEO,	has	spent	more	than	fifteen	years	at	Winterbotham,	starting	as	an	Independent	Consultant	
for	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	(Uruguay)	S.A.,	before	joining	the	Group	full	time	in	July	2001.	Ivan	has	a	BSc.	
in	 Business	 Administration	 from	 the	 University	 of	 Bath,	 a	MBA	Wealth	Managers,	 Fiduciaries	 and	 Trustees	 from	 the	
University	of	Manchester,	and	is	a	graduate	of	Harvard	Business	School	on	the	Owners	Presidents	management	program.	
Ivan	is	a	member	of	STEP,	a	founding	member,	current	director	and	the	past	Chair	of	STEP	-	South	America	Branch,	a	
STEP	Trustee	Managed	Portfolio	 Indices	 (TMPI)	Practitioner	Group	member,	a	Fellow	of	the	International	Compliance	
Association,	is	Licensed	as	a	Principal	by	the	Securities	Commission	of	The	Bahamas,	is	Co-Chair	of	the	Association	of	
International	Bank	and	Trust	companies	in	The	Bahamas	and	a	Director	of	the	Bahamas	Financial	Services	Board.	Ivan	was
a	recipient	of	the	STEP	2014	Founder’s	Awards	for	Outstanding	Achievement	and	the	recipient	of	the	Bahamas	Financial
Service	Board	14th	FSI	Excellence	Award	of	Executive	of	the	Year.

Andrew Law, Deputy Chairman – Director
Andrew	is	the	Founder	of	IPG	Family	Office	Limited,	an	independent	estate	and	inheritance	planning	consultancy	based	
in	Nassau,	Bahamas	and	Zurich,	Switzerland.	He	has	more	than	30	years	experience	 in	 the	fiduciary	services	 industry	
having	worked	in	Guernsey,	Switzerland,	and	The	Bahamas	for	the	Credit	Suisse	Group.	Mr.	Law	serves	on	a	number	of	
Government	/	private	sector	industry	working	groups	established	by	the	Bahamas	Financial	Services	Board.	He	is	also	a	
past	Chairman	of	the	Association	of	International	Banks	and	Trust	Companies	in	The	Bahamas.

Alan Davidson, Director
A	 highly	 successful	 banker,	 Alan	 was	 previously	 with	 ABN	 AMRO	 Bank	 for	 15	 years,	 where	 he	 held	 notable	 senior	
management	posts	as	Director	Latin	America,	based	in	the	USA,	Chief	Operations	Officer	in	Uruguay,	and	SVP	Operations	
in	 Brazil.	 Before	 that	 he	 held	 various	 senior	management	 positions	with	 Lloyds	 TSB	Bank,	where	 he	 spent	 15	 years	
between	Brazil	and	the	United	Kingdom.

Peter Trace, Director
A	Fellow	of	 the	 Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	 in	England	and	Wales	and	a	Member	of	 the	Society	of	Trust	and	
Estate	Practitioners,	Peter	started	and	headed	up	Schroders	private	banking	business	in	Asia.	As	director	of	Schroders	
Asia,	 Schroders	 Investment	 Management,	 Schroders	 Cayman	 and	 Chief	 Representative	 of	 Schroders	 Switzerland	 in	
Asia,	Peter	spent	some	11	years	in	charge	of	Schroders’	businesses	there.	Prior	to	joining	Schroders,	he	was	Managing	
Director	of	Private	Capital	(Asia)	Limited,	a	subsidiary	of	Scandinavian	Bank	Group	Plc,	and	previously	ran	his	own	financial	
consultancy	business	in	Hong	Kong.

Sandra Knowles, Director
An	 historian,	 and	 teacher	 at	 heart,	 Sandra’s	 experience	 in	 the	 financial	 services	 industry	 spanned	more	 than	 twenty	
years,	 during	 which	 time	 she	 acquired	 extensive	 expertise	 in	 international	 banking	 and	 financial	 regulation.	 Having	
spent		thirteen	years	at	Roywest	Corporation	(Bahamas)	Limited,	In	1993,	Sandra	was	appointed	the	first	female	General	
Manager	of	the	Broadcasting	Corporation	of	The	Bahamas.	In	1997,	she	became	the	first	female	Chief	Executive	Officer	
of	The	Securities	Commission	of	The	Bahamas,	a	position	she	held	until		2002.	From	2002,	Sandra	serves	AF	Holdings	
Group	of	Companies	in	many	capacities,	 including	director,	consultant	and	General	Manager	to	the	Nassau	Guardian	
(1844)	Ltd.	She	continues	to	advise	in	the	successful	development	of	multiple	small	businesses.	
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We	have	audited	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	which	comprise	the	

consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	June	30,	2016,	and	the	related	consolidated	statements	of	comprehensive	

income,	changes	in	equity	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	

other	explanatory	information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	

with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	for	such	internal	control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	

enable	the	preparation	of	consolidated	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	

or	error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	our	audit.	We	conducted	

our	audit	 in	accordance	with	 International	Standards	on	Auditing.	 	Those	Standards	require	that	we	comply	with	ethical	

requirements	and	plan	and	perform	 the	audit	 to	obtain	 reasonable	assurance	about	whether	 the	consolidated	financial	

statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	consolidated	

financial	 statements.	 	 The	 procedures	 selected	 depend	 on	 the	 auditors’	 judgment,	 including	 the	 assessment	 of	 the	

risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	 fraud	or	error.	 	 In	making	those	

risk	 assessments,	 the	 auditors	 consider	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 entity’s	 preparation	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 the	

consolidated	financial	statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	

the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.		An	audit	also	includes	evaluating	

the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	

well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.

Opinion

In	our	opinion,	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	 fairly,	 in	all	material	 respects,	 the	financial	position	of	The	

Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	as	at	June	30,	2016,	and	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	

ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To	the	Shareholders	and	Directors	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited:

October 28, 2016
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See	notes	to	consolidated	financial	statements.

These	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 were	 approved	 by	 the	
Board	 of	 Directors	 on	 October	 20,	 2016	 are	 signed	 on	 its	 behalf	 by:

ASSETS 2016 2015

CURRENT	ASSETS:

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents		(Notes	5,	25	and	27) $ 	39,792,132	 $ 	37,171,687	

			Accounts	receivable,	net	(Notes	6,	25	and	27) 	1,366,068	 	1,289,359	

			Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets	(Notes	7,	21,	25	and	27) 	1,738,155	 	1,472,692	

			Repurchase	agreements	(Notes	8,	25	and	27) 	1,279,790	 	910,401	

			Investments	(Notes	9,	25,	26	and	27) 	5,102,154	 	4,290,016	

          Total current assets  49,278,299  45,134,155 

NON-CURRENT	ASSETS:

			Security	deposits	(Notes	25	and	27) 	570,600	 	644,972	

			Fixed	assets,	net	(Note	10) 	4,426,670	 	4,245,028	

			Deferred	tax	assets	(Notes	22,	23,	25	and	27) 	33,150	 	39,370	

          Total non-current assets  5,030,420  4,929,370 

TOTAL $  54,308,719 $  50,063,525 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT	LIABILITIES:

			Call	accounts	(Notes	11,	25	and	27) $ 	27,715,035	 $ 	28,485,148	

			Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	(Notes	12,	25	and	27) 	3,970,043	 	2,898,938	

			Loans	and	interest	payable	(Notes	25	and	27) 	291,875	 	260,665	

			Dividends	payable	(Notes	18,	25	and	27) 	5,000,000	 	2,000,000	

			Advances	from	clients	(Notes	13,	25	and	27) 	707,349	 	1,236,150	

			Fees	received	in	advance	(Notes	13,	25	and	27) 	2,075,683	 	1,908,612	

         Total current liabilities  39,759,985  36,789,513 

EQUITY:

			Share	capital:

			Authorized,	issued	and	fully	paid:

						2,500,000	shares	of	$1	each 	2,500,000	 	2,500,000	

			Contributed	surplus	(Note	19) 	551,000	 	551,000	

			Legal	reserves	(Note	20) 	156,638	 	153,342	

			Revaluation	reserves	for	available-for-sale	investments	(Note	9) 	1,043,760	 	684,442	

			Retained	earnings 	10,258,346	 	9,346,238	

         Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  14,509,744  13,235,022 

			Non-controlling	interest 	38,990	 	38,990	

         Total equity  14,548,734  13,274,012 

TOTAL $  54,308,719 $  50,063,525 

Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2016 (Expressed in United States Dollars)

Director
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See	notes	to	consolidated	financial	statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 (Expressed in United States Dollars)

2016 2015

INCOME:

			Fees	for	administration	services $ 	12,083,148	 $ 	9,795,262	

			Commissions	and	fees	on	fiduciary	transactions	(Note	14)	 	6,197,990	 	4,941,867	

			Fees	for	company	incorporation	services 	670,889	 	635,967	

       Total net fee and commission income  18,952,027  15,373,096 

EXPENSES:

			Salaries	and	benefits	(Notes	15	and	21)	 	(6,724,545) 	(5,963,738)

			Administrative	and	general	expenses	(Note	16)	 	(4,288,484) 	(3,717,603)

			Employee	profit	participation	(Notes	15	and	21) 	(1,872,000) 	(1,170,000)

			Costs	related	with	fees	on	fiduciary	transactions	(Note	14) 	(564,821) 	(363,998)

			Depreciation	(Note	10)	 	(431,782) 	(426,642)

			Costs	related	to	company	incorporation	services	 	(126,368) 	(137,356)

			Commissions	 	(278,469) 	(157,324)

       Total expenses  (14,286,469)  (11,936,661)

       Profit from operations  4,665,558  3,436,435 

FINANCIAL INCOME (Note 17)  1,446,603  59,307 

OTHER INCOME  34,600  41,747 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  6,146,761  3,537,489 

			Taxation	(Notes	22	and	23) 	(231,357) 	(311,305)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  5,915,404  3,226,184 

OTHER	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	(LOSS):

   Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments  359,318  (325,551)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR $  6,274,722 $  2,900,633 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 (Expressed in United States dollars)

Balance at June 30, 2014 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  128,491 $  1,009,993 $  8,144,905 $ 12,334,389 $  38,990 $  12,373,379 

Net income for the year 	-			 	-			 	-	 	-	 	3,226,184	 	3,226,184	 	-			 	3,226,184	

Legal	reserve	(Note	20) - - 	10,851	 	-	 	(10,851) 	-	 - 	-	

Reserve	for	tax	exoneration	(Note	20) - - 	14,000	 	(14,000) 	-	 - 	-	

Dividends	declared	(Note	18) 	-			 	-			 	-	 	-	 	(2,000,000) 	(2,000,000) 	-			 	(2,000,000)

Other	comprehensive	income

   for the year 	-			 	-			 	-	 	(325,551) 	-	 	(325,551) 	-			 	(325,551)

Balance at June 30, 2015  2,500,000  551,000  153,342  684,442  9,346,238  13,235,022  38,990  13,274,012 

Net income for the year 	-			 	-			 	-	 	-	 	5,915,404	 	5,915,404	 	-			 	5,915,404	

Legal	reserve	(Note	20) - - 	3,296	 	-	 	(3,296) 	-	 - 	-	

Reserve	for	tax	exoneration	(Note	20) - - 	-	 	-	 	-	 	-	 - 	-	

Dividends	declared	(Note	18) 	-			 	-			 	-	 	-	 	(5,000,000) 	(5,000,000) 	-			 	(5,000,000)

Other	comprehensive	income

   for the year 	-			 	-			 	-	 	359,318	 	-	 	359,318	 	-			 	359,318	

Balance at June 30, 2016 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  156,638 $  1,043,760 $ 10,258,346 $ 14,509,744 $  38,990 $  14,548,734 

Revaluation
reserves for

available-for-sale
 investments

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Legal
Reserves

			Retained
			Earnings

Equity
attributable
to	equity

holders  of
the parent

Non-
controlling

interest Total

See	notes	to	consolidated	financial	statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 (Expressed in United States dollars)

2016 2015
CASH	FLOWS	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES:

				Profit	for	the	year $ 	5,915,404	 $ 	3,226,184	

				Adjustments	for:

							Depreciation	(Note	10) 	431,782	 	426,642	

							Unrealized	(gain)	loss	on	investments 	(174,007) 	361,737	

							Gain	on	disposal	of	fixed	assets 	(35,706) 	(17,405)

          Net cash from operations before working capital changes  6,137,473  3,997,158 

							Increase	in	accounts	receivable,	net 	(76,709) 	(490,862)

							(Increase)	Decrease	in	prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets	 	(265,463) 	69,750	

							Decrease	in	security	deposits 	74,372	 	44,974	

							Decrease	in	deferred	tax	assets 	6,220	 	65,817	

							(Decrease)	Increase	in	call	accounts 	(770,113) 	20,150,040	

							Increase	in	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities 	1,071,105	 	959,547	

							(Decrease)	Increase	in	advances	from	clients 	(528,801) 	53,377	

							Increase	in	fees	received	in	advance 	167,071	 	530,808	

          Net cash from operating activities  5,815,155  25,380,609 

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES:

				Purchase	of	fixed	assets	(Note	10) 	(613,424) 	(309,474)

				New	repurchase	agreements 	(665,881) 	-	

				Repurchase	agreements	proceeds 	296,492	 	103,042	

				Proceeds	from	sale	of	fixed	assets 	35,706	 	42,649	

				Purchase	of	investments 	(278,813) 	(1,106,203)

				Proceeds	from	sale	of	investments 	-	 	273,078	

          Net cash used in investing activities  (1,225,920)  (996,908)

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	FINANCING	ACTIVITIES:

				Dividends	paid 	(2,000,000) 	(1,200,000)

				Loans	advances 	281,999	 	-	

				Loans	repayments 	(260,050) 	-	

				Interest	collected 	116,300	 	21,268	

				Interest	paid 	(107,039) 	(45,300)

          Net cash used in financing activities  (1,968,790)  (1,224,032)

NET	INCREASE	IN	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS 	2,620,445	 	23,159,669	

CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS,	BEGINNING	OF	YEAR 	37,171,687	 	14,012,018	

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  $  39,792,132 $  37,171,687 

SUPPLEMENTAL	DISCLOSURE	OF	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES:
    Interest received  $  1,205,213 $  623,068 

    Taxes paid $  225,455 $  245,488 

    Dividends received $  181 $  212 
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1. GENERAL

The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	(the	“Company”)	was	incorporated	and	licensed	in	The	Commonwealth	of	The	
Bahamas	 in	1994	under	the	Bank	&	Trust	Companies’	Regulation	Act	of	1965,	and	 is	a	75%	subsidiary	of	Winterbotham	
Holdings	 Limited.	 	 In	 December	 1996,	 the	 Company	was	 granted	 a	 license	 to	 carry	 on	 unrestricted	 banking	 and	 trust	
business,	activities	which,	today,	are	subject	to	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Bank	&	Trust	Companies	Regulation	Act,	
2000.		The	Company	is	regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	The	Bahamas.		The	Company	is	also	a	licensed	fund	administrator	
and	securities	broker/dealer,	activities	that	are	regulated	by	Securities	Commission	of	The	Bahamas.

These	consolidated	financial	statements	 include	the	accounts	of	 the	Company	and	 its	subsidiaries,	which	are	hereinafter	
collectively	referred	to	as	“the	Group”.

As	of	June	30,	2016,	the	Company’s	holdings	in	subsidiaries	are	as	follows:

NAME
OF	SUBSIDIARY

PLACE	OF
INCORPORATION
AND	OPERATION

OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

PRINCIPAL	ACTIVITY

The	Winterbotham
			Trust	Company
			(Uruguay)	S.A.

Uruguay 100%

Provides	administrative	services	to	the	
parent company on internal matters 
(such	as	certain	accounting	functions)	

and also with respect to client servicing 
(with	particular	focus	on	clients	in	Latin	
America	due	to	geographical	proximity	

and	language	similarity).

Shiffel	Corp.	S.A. Uruguay 100%

Provides	administrative	services	to	the	
parent company on internal matters 
(such	as	certain	accounting	functions)	

and also with respect to client servicing 
(with	particular	focus	on	clients	in	Latin	
America	due	to	geographical	proximity	
and	language	similarity).	The	Company	
also	provides	IT	contingency	services	to	
its	Parent	and	to	its	clients.	This	company	

operates	from	a	free	trade	zone.

Winterbotham	
Properties	Limited

Bahamas 100% Holds	real-estate	in	Nassau.

Haplar	Holdings	Limited Bahamas 100% Holds	real-estate	in	Uruguay.

WNS	Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts	as	Company	Secretary	for	client	

companies.

WND	Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts	as	Corporate	Director	for	client	

companies

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 (Expressed in United States dollars)
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Delacroix	Limited	and	Delaroche	Limited	are	duly	licensed	and	regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	The	Bahamas	as	Nominee	
Trust	Companies.		These	companies,	acting	individually	or	together,	are	nominees	for	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	
Limited	in	its	capacity	as	trustee	and/or	custodian.		WNS	Limited,	WND	Limited	and	WTD	Limited	have	been	approved	by	the	
Central	Bank	of	The	Bahamas	as	Financial	and	Corporate	Services	providers.		Winterbotham	Fiduciaria	S.A.	Administradora	
de	Fondos	de	Inversión	is	duly	licensed	and	regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Uruguay	as	a	professional	Trust	Company	and	
is	a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	(Uruguay)	S.A.

The	registered	office	of	the	Company	is	Winterbotham	Place,	Marlborough	and	Queen	Streets,	Nassau,	Bahamas.

The	average	number	of	employees	for	the	year	is	112	(2015:	100).

NAME
OF	SUBSIDIARY

PLACE	OF
INCORPORATION
AND	OPERATION

OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

PRINCIPAL	ACTIVITY

WTD	Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts	as	Corporate	Director	for	client	

companies

Delacroix	Limited Bahamas 100%

Acts	as	a	nominee	of	
The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	

Limited	in	its	capacity	as	trustee	and/or	
custodian.

Delaroche	Limited Bahamas 100%

Acts	as	a	nominee	of	
The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	

Limited	in	its	capacity	as	trustee	and/or	
custodian.

			The	Winterbotham	Trust	
Company

(Hong	Kong)	Limited
Hong	Kong 97	%

Provides	fiduciary,	corporate,	and	trust	
services to clients and represents the 

Group	in	Asia.
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In	the	current	year,	there	were	several	new	and	amended	Standards	and	Interpretations	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	
Standards	Board	(the	“IASB”)	and	the	International	Financial	Reporting	Interpretations	Committee	(the	“IFRIC”)	of	the	IASB	
effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2015.

a. Standards and Interpretations effective but not affecting the reported results or financial position

Effective date annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015
IFRS	7	 Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	(Amendments)

b. Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective

Effective date annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016
IFRS	5	 Non-current	Assets	Held	for	Sale	and	Discontinued	Operations	(Amendments)
IFRS	7	 Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	(Amendments)
IFRS	10	 Consolidated	Financial	Statements	(Amendments)
IFRS	11	 Joint	Arrangements	(Amendments)
IFRS	12	 Disclosures	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	(Amendments)
IFRS	14	 Regulatory	Deferral	Accounts
IAS	1	 Presentation	of	Financial	Statements	(Amendments)
IAS	16	 Property,	Plant	and	Equipment	(Amendments)
IAS	19	 Employee	Benefits	(Amendments)
IAS	27	 Separate	Financial	Statements	(Amendments)
IAS	28	 Investments	in	Associates	and	Joint	Ventures	(Amendments)
IAS	34	 Interim	Financial	Reporting	(Amendments)
IAS	38	 Intangible	Assets	(Amendments)
IAS	41	 Agriculture	(Amendments)

Effective date annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017
International	Financial	Reporting	Standard	for	Small	and	Medium-sized	Entities	(Amendments)
IAS	7	 Statements	of	Cash	Flows	(Amendments)
IAS	12	 Income	Taxes	(Amendments)

Effective date annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018
IFRS	7	 Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	(Amendments)
IFRS	9	 Financial	Instruments
IFRS	15	 Revenue	from	Contracts	with	Customers
IAS	39	 Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement	(Amendments)

Effective date annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019
IFRS	16	 Leases

Except	 for	 IFRS	 9	 and	 IFRS	 15,	 management	 does	 not	 anticipate	 that	 the	 relevant	 adoption	 of	 these	 standards	 and	
interpretations	in	future	periods	will	have	a	material	impact	on	the	financial	statements	of	the	Company.
 
Management	has	not	assessed	whether	the	relevant	adoption	of	these	standards	and	interpretations	in	future	periods	will	
have	a	material	impact	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Company.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) AND INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS (IAS)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance - These	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS.

Basis of preparation - The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	under	the	historical	cost	convention,	and	
modified	by	any	revaluation	of	assets	and	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	and	the	
statement	of	changes	in	equity	according	to	the	policies	for	the	relevant	areas.

The	following	is	a	summary	of	the	significant	accounting	policies:

a. Basis of consolidation

i.Subsidiaries	-	Subsidiaries	are	entities	controlled	by	the	Company.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	incorporate	the	
financial	statements	of	the	Company,	entities	(including	structured	entities)	controlled	by	the	Company,	and	its	subsidiaries.		
Control	is	achieved	when	the	Company:
 
	 •	Has	power	over	the	investee;

	 •	Is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and,

	 •	Has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.	

The	Company	reassesses	whether	or	not	it	controls	an	investee	if	facts	and	circumstances	indicate	that	there	are	changes	to	
one	or	more	of	the	three	elements	of	control	listed	above.

Consolidation	of	a	subsidiary	begins	when	the	Company	obtains	control	over	the	subsidiary	and	ceases	when	the	Company	
loses	control	of	the	subsidiary.	Specifically,	income	and	expenses	of	a	subsidiary	acquired	or	disposed	of	during	the	year	are	
included	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	from	the	date	the	Company	gains	control	until	the	date	
when	the	Company	ceases	to	control	the	subsidiary.

ii.	Transactions	eliminated	on	consolidation	-	Intra-group	balances	and	any	unrealized	gains	or	losses	or	income	and	expenses	
arising	from	intra-group	transactions	are	eliminated	in	preparing	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

b. Financial instruments -	On	initial	recognition,	a	financial	asset	or	liability	is	measured	at	its	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs	
directly	attributable	to	the	acquisition	or	issue	of	the	financial	asset	or	liability.		Also,	on	initial	recognition,	financial	assets	
are	classified	as	either	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL);	held-to-maturity	investments;	loans	and	
receivables;	or	available-for-sale;	and	are	measured	at	their	fair	values	without	any	deduction	for	transaction	costs,	except	
for	the	following	financial	assets:

i.	loans	and	receivables	and	held-to-maturity	financial	instruments	are	measured	at		amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	
rate	method;

ii.	Investments	in	equity	instruments	that	do	not	have	a	quoted	market	price	in	an	active	market	and	whose	fair	value	cannot	
be	reliably	measured	are	measured	at	cost.

After	 initial	recognition	financial	 liabilities	are	measured	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method,	except	for	
financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.		Such	liabilities,	including	derivatives	that	are	liabilities,	are	measured	at	
fair	value.		Term	deposits	maturing	after	three	months	of	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date	are	classified	
as	held-to-maturity	 financial	 instruments.	 	 They	have	fixed	or	determinable	payments	 and	fixed	maturity	dates,	 and	 the	
Group	has	the	intent	and	ability	to	hold	them	to	maturity.

Loans	and	other	receivables	that	have	fixed	and	determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market	are	classified	
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as	loans	and	receivables	and	are	carried	at	cost,	which	equates	to	amortized	cost.		Call	accounts	and	other	liabilities	are	
financial	liabilities,	which	are	carried	at	cost.

Recognition and derecognition

Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	when	a	group	entity	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	provisions	of	
the	instruments.		

The	Group	derecognizes	a	financial	asset	when	the	contractual	rights	to	the	cash	flows	from	the	asset	expire,	or	when	it	
transfers	the	financial	asset	and	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	asset	to	another	party.		If	the	Group	
neither	transfers	nor	retains	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	and	continues	to	control	the	transferred	asset,	
the	Group	recognizes	its	retained	interest	in	the	asset	and	an	associated	liability	for	amounts	it	may	have	to	pay.		If	the	Group	
retains	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	a	transferred	financial	asset,	the	Group	continues	to	recognize	
the	financial	asset	and	also	recognizes	a	collateralized	borrowing	for	the	proceeds	received.	

On	derecognition	of	a	financial	asset	in	its	entirety,	the	difference	between	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	and	the	sum	of	the	
consideration	received	and	receivable	and	the	cumulative	gain	or	 loss	that	has	been	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	
income	and	accumulated	in	equity	is	recognized	in	profit	or	loss.
 
On	derecognition	of	a	financial	asset	other	than	in	its	entirety	(e.g.	when	the	Group	retains	an	option	to	repurchase	part	of	
a	transferred	asset),	the	Group	allocates	the	previous	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	between	the	part	it	continues	
to	recognise	under	continuing	involvement,	and	the	part	it	no	longer	recognises	on	the	basis	of	the	relative	fair	values	of	
those	parts	on	the	date	of	the	transfer.		The	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	allocated	to	the	part	that	is	no	longer	
recognised	and	the	sum	of	the	consideration	received	for	the	part	no	longer	recognised	and	any	cumulative	gain	or	loss	
allocated	to	it	that	had	been	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.		A	cumulative	gain	or	
loss	that	had	been	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	is	allocated	between	the	part	that	continues	to	be	recognised	
and	the	part	that	is	no	longer	recognised	on	the	basis	of	the	relative	fair	values	of	those	parts.

The	Group	derecognises	financial	liabilities	when,	and	only	when,	the	Group’s	obligations	are	discharged,	cancelled	or	have	
expired.		The	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	liability	derecognised	and	the	consideration	paid	and	
payable	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

c. Cash and cash equivalents -	Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand,	demand	accounts,	short	term	deposits,	
overnight	placements	and	investments	in	money	market	funds.

d. Accounts receivable, net -	Accounts	receivable	are	stated	at	cost	less	provision	for	doubtful	accounts	(see	note	3h).

e. Assets held under repurchase agreements -	 The	 Group	 purchases	 securities	 under	 agreements	 to	 resell	 (reverse	
repurchase	 agreements).	 	 Reverse	 repurchase	 agreements	 are	 treated	 as	 short-term	 collateralized	 lending	 transactions.		
Reverse	repurchase	agreements	are	recorded	on	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position.

Assets	pledged	as	collateral	for	reverse	repurchase	agreements	are	held	in	a	fiduciary	capacity.		Interest	income	on	reverse	
repurchase	agreements	is	included	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	in	interest	income.

f. Investments -	Investments	are	recognized	on	a	trade	date	basis	and	are	classified	as	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL)	
and	available-for-sale	investments.		Investments	are	initially	measured	at	cost	and	are	subsequently	remeasured	at	fair	value	
based	on	quoted	market	prices.		AFS	equity	investments	that	do	not	have	a	quoted	market	price	in	an	active	market	and	
whose	 fair	value	cannot	be	 reliably	measured	and	derivatives	 that	are	 linked	to	and	must	be	settled	by	delivery	of	such	
unquoted	equity	investments	are	measured	at	cost	less	any	identified	impairment	losses	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period.

Unrealized	gains	and	losses	arising	from	a	change	in	the	fair	value	of	available-for-sale	investments	are	recognized	in	the	
other	comprehensive	income	section	of	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income.		Unrealized	gains	and	losses	
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Land Not depreciated

Housing	property 2%

Office	building	improvements 6.67%	to	25%

Vehicles 25%

Software 33%	to	50%

Office	equipment 20%	to	50%

Office	furniture	and	fittings 10%

arising	from	a	change	in	the	fair	value	of	FVTPL	investments	are	recognized	in	financial	income	in	the	consolidated	statement	
of	comprehensive	income.

Other	changes	in	the	carrying	amount	of	available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	
and	accumulated	under	the	heading	of	investments	revaluation	reserve.

g. Fixed assets, net -	Fixed	assets	are	stated	at	cost	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment	losses.		Depreciation	is	
being	provided	by	the	straight-line	method	at	the	following	rates:

h. Impairment -	Fixed	assets,	accounts	receivable	and	reverse	repurchase	agreements	are	reviewed	at	each	consolidated	
statement	of	financial	position	date	to	determine	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	of	impairment.		If	any	such	indication	
exists,	the	asset’s	recoverable	amount	is	estimated.

Fixed assets

An	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognized	 whenever	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 asset	 or	 its	 cash-generating	 unit	 exceeds	 its	
recoverable	amount.		The	impairment	losses	are	recognized	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income.

The	recoverable	amount	of	assets	is	the	greater	of	their	net	selling	price	and	value	in	use.		In	assessing	value	in	use,	the	
estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessment	
of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	asset.

For	an	asset	that	does	not	generate	cash	flows	largely	independent	of	those	from	other	assets,	the	recoverable	amount	is	
determined	for	the	cash	generating	unit	to	which	the	asset	belongs.

An	impairment	loss	is	only	reversed	to	the	extent	that	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	does	not	exceed	the	carrying	amount	that	
would	have	been	determined	if	no	impairment	loss	had	been	recognized.

Accounts receivable

The	Group’s	policy	is	to	fully	provide	for	all	balances	outstanding	for	more	than	120	days.		However,	in	certain	situations	
management	may	determine	that	no	provision	is	needed	for	balances	in	excess	of	120	days	if	they	conclude	that	ultimate	
collection	is	more	likely	than	not.	

Reverse repurchase agreements

An	impaired	reverse	repurchase	agreement	refers	to	a	lending	arrangement	where	there	is	no	longer	reasonable	assurance	
of	timely	collection	of	the	full	amount	of	principal	and	interest	due	to	deterioration	in	the	credit	quality	of	the	counterparty.		
An	agreement	is	impaired	if	the	estimated	recoverable	amount	of	the	asset	is	less	than	its	carrying	amount.		Impairment	is	
measured	and	a	provision	for	credit	losses	is	established	for	the	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	and	its	estimated	
recoverable	value.
 
Upon	impairment,	the	accrual	of	interest	income	based	on	the	original	terms	of	the	agreement	is	discontinued	and	the	asset	

23



is	written	down	to	its	estimated	recoverable	amount.		Interest	income	thereafter	is	recognized	on	a	cash	basis.

i. Revenue recognition - Revenue	is	recognized	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	on	an	accrual	basis	
when	the	service	has	been	provided.		No	revenue	is	recognized	if	there	are	significant	uncertainties	regarding	recovery	of	
the	consideration	due	and	associated	costs.

j. Interest income and expenses -	Interest	income	and	expenses	are	recorded	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	
income	on	an	accrual	basis.

k. Commissions -	Commissions	are	recognized	when	earned,	which	is	when	the	service	is	provided.

l. Provisions -	A	provision	is	recognized	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	when	the	Group	has	a	present	
and	legal	obligation	as	a	result	of	a	past	event	and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	
settle	the	obligation.

m. Classification -	Assets	are	classified	as	current	when	intended	for	sale	in	the	normal	operating	cycle,	or	held	primarily	for	
the	purpose	of	being	traded,	or	expected	to	be	realized	within	twelve	months	or	when	classified	as	cash	and	cash	equivalents.		
All	other	assets	are	classified	as	non-current.		Liabilities	are	classified	as	current	when	expected	to	be	settled	in	the	normal	
operating	cycle,	or	held	primarily	for	the	purpose	of	being	traded,	or	due	to	be	settled	within	twelve	months,	or	there	are	no	
unconditional	rights	to	defer	settlement	for	at	least	twelve	months.		All	other	liabilities	are	classified	as	non-current.

n. Assets under management -	Assets	under	management	which	are	held	in	a	fiduciary	capacity	for	clients	are	excluded	from	
the	consolidated	financial	statements,	other	than	those	assets	and	liabilities	which	related	to	banking,	securities	execution	
and	custody	services	provided	by	the	Group	to	their	clients.

o. Fair value of financial instruments - All	of	the	Group’s	financial	instruments	are	carried	at	fair	value	or	contracted	amounts	
which	approximate	fair	value.		Financial	instruments	recorded	at	contracted	amounts	consist	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	
prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets,	reverse	repurchase	agreements,	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities.		The	value	of	
these	instruments	approximates	fair	value,	as	the	instruments	have	short-term	maturities,	variable	interest	rates	and	are	not	
materially	affected	by	changes	in	interest	rates.

p. Related parties -	Related	parties	include	officers	and	directors	who	are	related	through	having	authority	and	responsibility	
for	directing	and	controlling	the	activities	of	the	Group	and	companies	related	through	common	directors	and/or	shareholders.
 
q. Foreign currency translation -	The	Group’s	functional	currency	is	United	States	Dollars.		In	preparing	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	of	the	Group,	transactions	in	currencies	other	than	United	States	Dollars	are	recorded	at	the	rates	of	
exchange	prevailing	on	the	date	of	the	transaction.		At	each	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date,	monetary	
items	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	translated	at	the	rates	prevailing	on	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.		
Non-monetary	items	carried	at	fair	value	that	are	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	translated	at	the	rates	prevailing	on	
the	date	when	the	fair	value	was	determined.		Non-monetary	items	that	are	measured	in	terms	of	historical	cost	in	a	foreign	
currency	are	translated	at	the	rates	prevailing	on	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.

Exchange	differences	arising	on	the	settlement	of	monetary	items,	and	on	the	translation	of	monetary	items,	are	included	in	
financial	income	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income.		Exchange	differences	arising	on	the	translation	
of	non-monetary	items	carried	at	fair	value	are	included	in	financial	income	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	
income	for	the	period.
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In	 the	application	of	 the	Group’s	accounting	policies,	which	are	described	 in	note	3,	 the	directors	are	 required	 to	make	
judgements,	estimates	and	assumptions	about	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	not	readily	apparent	
from	other	sources.		The	estimates	and	associated	assumptions	are	based	on	historical	experience	and	other	factors	that	are	
considered	to	be	relevant.	Actual	results	may	differ	from	these	estimates.

The	 estimates	 and	 underlying	 assumptions	 are	 reviewed	 on	 an	 ongoing	 basis.	 Revisions	 to	 accounting	 estimates	 are	
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and	future	periods	if	the	revision	affects	both	current	and	future	periods.

a. Impairment -	The	Group	has	significant	 investments	 in	fixed	assets,	accounts	 receivable	and	 repurchase	agreements.		
These	 assets	 are	 tested	 for	 impairment	 when	 circumstances	 indicate	 there	 may	 be	 a	 potential	 impairment.	 	 Factors	
considered	 important	 which	 could	 trigger	 an	 impairment	 review	 include	 the	 following:	 significant	 fall	 in	market	 values;	
significant	underperformance	relative	to	historical	or	projected	future	operating	results;	significant	changes	in	the	use	of	the	
assets	or	the	strategy	for	the	overall	business,	including	assets	that	are	decided	to	be	phased	out	or	replaced	and	assets	
that	are	damaged	or	taken	out	of	use;	significant	negative	industry	or	economic	trends;	and	significant	cost	overruns	in	the	
development	of	assets.

Estimating	recoverable	amounts	of	assets	must	in	part	be	based	on	management	evaluations,	including	estimates	of	future	
performance,	revenue	generating	capacity	of	 the	assets,	assumptions	of	 the	future	market	conditions	and	the	success	 in	
marketing	of	new	products	and	services.		Changes	in	circumstances	and	in	management’s	evaluations	and	assumptions	may	
give	rise	to	impairment	losses	in	the	relevant	periods.
 
b. Depreciation -	Depreciation	is	based	on	management	estimates	of	the	future	useful	life	of	fixed	assets.		Estimates	may	
change	due	to	technological	developments,	competition,	changes	in	market	conditions	and	other	factors	and	may	result	in	
changes	in	the	estimated	useful	life	and	in	the	depreciation	charges.		The	Group	reviews	the	future	useful	life	of	fixed	assets	
periodically,	taking	into	consideration	the	factors	mentioned	above	and	all	other	important	factors.		
Estimated	useful	life	for	similar	types	of	assets	may	vary	between	different	entities	in	the	Group	due	to	local	factors	such	as	
growth	rate,	maturity	of	the	market,	history	and	expectations	for	replacements	or	transfer	of	assets,	climate,	etc.		In	the	case	
of	significant	changes	in	the	estimated	useful	lives,	depreciation	charges	are	adjusted	prospectively.

c. Legal proceedings, claims and regulatory discussions -	The	Group	is	subject	to	various	legal	proceedings,	claims	and	
regulatory	discussions,	 the	outcomes	of	which	are	subject	 to	significant	uncertainty.	 	The	Group	evaluates,	among	other	
factors,	the	degree	of	probability	of	an	unfavorable	outcome	and	the	ability	to	make	a	reasonable	estimate	of	the	amount	
of	loss.		Unanticipated	events	or	changes	in	these	factors	may	require	the	Group	to	increase	or	decrease	the	amount	the	
Group	has	accrued	for	any	matter	or	accrue	for	a	matter	that	has	not	been	previously	accrued	because	it	was	not	considered	
probable	or	a	reasonable	estimate	could	not	be	made.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	comprised	of	the	following:

                         2016                       2015

Balance
Average

Rate Balance
Average

Rate

Cash	on	hand $ 	30,322	 0.00% $ 	17,834	 0.00%

Demand	accounts 	161,810	 0.00% 	3,147,463	 0.00%

Short	term	deposits 	10,000,000	 0.90% 	2,206,390	 0.60%

Shares	in	money	market	funds:

			KBL	European	Private	Bankers 	20,000,000	 0.30% 	-	 0.00%

			HSBC	Global	Liquidity	Funds 	3,000,000	 0.45% 	1,500,000	 0.05%

			Citi	Institutional	Liquid	Reserves	Ltd. 	2,000,000	 0.45% 	9,000,000	 0.11%

			Western	Asset	Short	Term	Yield	Fund,	Ltd., 	1,500,000	 0.69% 	2,000,000	 0.27%

			Western	Asset	Institutional	U.S.	Treasury

						Reserves	Ltd.	C11 	1,200,000	 0.20% 	400,000	 0.01%

			UBS 	1,000,000	 0.00% 	400,000	 0.00%

			Corner	Bank 	500,000	 0.00% 	-	 0.00%

			Santander	International	Bank 	200,000	 0.25% 	10,000,000	 0.07%

			Merril	Lynch	autocall 	200,000	 0.02% 	500,000	 0.02%

			Deutsche	Global	Liquidity	Funds 	-	 0.00% 	3,000,000	 0.07%

			BTG	Pactual	Cayman 	-	 0.00% 	5,000,000	 0.00%

$  39,792,132 $  37,171,687 
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6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

2016 2015

Accounts receivable $  1,994,213 $ 1,650,758 

Provision	for	doubtful	accounts:

			Balance,	beginning	of	year 	(361,399) 	(195,845)

			Provision	for	the	year  	(361,235)  	(285,306)

   Write offs 	94,489	 	119,752	

   Balance, end of year  (628,145)  (361,399)

Accounts receivable, net $  1,366,068 $ 1,289,359 

Accounts	receivable,	net	is	comprised	of	the	following:

7. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER ASSETS

2016 2015

Accounts	with	related	entities	(Note	19) $ 	951,965	 $ 	921,337	

Deferred	expenses 	452,359	 	255,144	

Loans	to	staff	(Note	19) 	144,734	 	115,130	

Advances	to	suppliers 	82,948	 	109,680	

Other 	92,564	 	60,066	

Shelf	companies	available	for	sale 	13,585	 	11,335	

$  1,738,155 $  1,472,692 

Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets	are	comprised	of	the	following:

2016 2015

Current $ 	378,123	 $ 	502,304	

31	-	60	days 	369,189	 	247,031	 

61	-	90	days 	278,611	 	309,578	

Over	90	days  	968,290	  	591,845	

$  1,994,213 $  1,650,758 

The	aging	of	trade	accounts	receivable	is	as	follows:
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9. INVESTMENTS

2016 2015

 FVTPL 

	Equities	 $ 	1,443,446	 $ 	968,323	

 Cost   

	Other	investments	 	777,709	 	800,012	

 Available-for-sale 

	Gold	(cost)	 	1,837,239	 	1,837,239	

	Gold	(revaluation	reserve)	 	1,043,760	 	684,442	

 2,880,999  2,521,681 

Total $  5,102,154  $  4,290,016 

Investments	are	comprised	of	the	following:

8. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

2016 2015 2016 2015

                    Capital Rate Maturity Client

Agreement	#1  $ 	117,660	  $ 	107,953	 8.50% 8.50% 8/7/16 5002118

Agreement	#2 	512,871	 	665,440	 8.50% 8.50% 29/7/16 5002169

Agreement	#3 	149,259	 	137,008	 8.50% 8.50% 18/7/16 5002118

Agreement	#4  	500,000	  	-	 2.97% - 25/10/16 8000015

 $

$  1,279,790 $  910,401 

These	are	specific	lending	agreements	fully	guaranteed	by	securities’	collateral	held	on	account.		It	is	not	part	of	the	Group’s	
regular	activity	to	grant	such	agreements,	but	it	may	do	so	on	a	case	by	case	basis,	requiring	full	securities’	collateral	in	every	
case.		As	of	June	30,	2016,	four	agreements	remained	outstanding	(2015:	three	agreements):
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10. FIXED ASSETS - NET

Fixed	assets	are	comprised	of	the	following:

COST:

			Balance	at	June	30,	2014 $ 	572,937	 $ 	3,043,405	 $ 	1,324,873	 $ 	432,096	 $ 	668,435	 $ 	2,247,526	 $ 	1,013,499	 $ 	9,302,771	

			Additions 	-	 	-	 	25,656	 	31,886	 	40,016	 	147,716	 	64,200	 	309,474	

			Disposals 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(65,671) 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(65,671)

			Balance	at	June	30,	2015 	572,937	 	3,043,405	 	1,350,529	 	398,311	 	708,451	 	2,395,242	 	1,077,699	 	9,546,574	

			Additions 	-	 	-	 	18,075	 	200,601	 	66,913	 	279,358	 	48,477	 	613,424	

			Disposals 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(32,064) 	-	 	(14,489) 	-	 	(46,553)

   Balance at June 30, 2016 $  572,937 $  3,043,405  $  1,368,604 $  566,848 $  775,364 $  2,660,111 $  1,126,176 $  10,113,445 

ACCUMULATED	DEPRECIATION:

			Balance	at	June	30,	2014 $ 	-	 $ 	309,544	 $ 	938,161	 $ 	426,434	 $ 	628,956	 $ 	1,867,163	 $ 	745,073	 $ 	4,915,331	

			Additions 	-	 	65,001	 	69,827	 	12,304	 	38,455	 	196,515	 	44,540	 	426,642	

			Disposals 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(40,427)	 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(40,427)

			Balance	at	June	30,	2015 	-	 	374,545	 	1,007,988	 	398,311	 	667,411	 	2,063,678	 	789,613	 	5,301,546	

			Additions 	-	 	65,000	 	72,915	 	10,599	 	44,126	 	189,684	 	49,458	 	431,782	

			Disposals 	-	 	-	 	-	 	(32,064) 	-	 	(14,489) 	-	 	(46,553)

   Balance at June 30, 2016 $  - $  439,545 $  1,080,903 $  376,846 $  711,537 $  2,238,873 $  839,071 $  5,686,775 

NET	BOOK	VALUE:

 As at June 30, 2016 $  572,937 $  2,603,860 $  287,701 $  190,002 $  63,827 $  421,238 $  287,105 $  4,426,670 

 As at June 30, 2015 $  572,937 $  2,668,860 $  342,541 $  - $  41,040 $  331,564 $  288,086 $  4,245,028 

Land

Housing

Property

Office

Building

Improvements Vehicles Software

Office

Equipment

Office

Furniture

and Fittings Total
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Call	accounts	represent	the	total	on-balance	amounts	held	by	clients	in	bank	accounts	with	the	Company.	Funds	in	excess	
of	 $50,000	 are	placed	out	on	 a	 fiduciary	basis	 for	 the	 account	 and	 risk	of	 the	 account	 holder(s).	 	 The	balance	 in	 these	
consolidated	financial	statements	represents	the	first	$50,000	held	in	each	account.

2016 2015

Provision	for	staff	benefits	and	training	expenses	(*) $ 	2,038,600	 $ 	1,331,501	

Provisions	-	other	(*) 	1,099,152	 	740,979	

Accounts	payable 	527,328	 	476,805	

Commissions	payable 	221,095	 	261,563	

Social	security 	68,426	 	62,483	

Taxes	payable	in	advance 	15,442	 	25,607	

$  3,970,043 $  2,898,938 

11. CALL ACCOUNTS

12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	are	comprised	of	the	following:

Advances	from	clients	are	credit	balances	corresponding	to	clients	who	have	made	advance	payments	on	account.		Fees	
received	in	advance	includes	the	portion	of	annual	client	fees	which	have	been	collected	in	the	year	ended	June	30,	2016,	
and	relate	to	periods	subsequent	to	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date.

13. ADVANCES FROM CLIENTS AND FEES RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Initial 
balance  Additions 

Reductions 
(Payments)

Final Balance
June 2016 

(*) Provisions:

Provision	for	staff	benefits	and	training	expenses:

				Provision	for	bonuses	and	profit	share $ 	1,170,000	 $ 	1,872,000	 $ 	(1,170,000) $ 	1,872,000	

				Other	staff	benefits	provisions	
									(holiday	leave,	13th	Salary)

 
161,501	

 

166,600	 	(161,501)
 

166,600	

 1,331,501  2,038,600  (1,331,501)  2,038,600 

Provisions	-	other:

				Legal	Fees 	447,240	 	533,569	 	(326,350) 	654,459	

				Director	Fees $ 	80,400	 	166,340	 	(156,540) 	90,200	

				Audit	fees 	116,275	 	108,160	 	(92,677) 	131,758	

				Taxes 	29,503	 	33,486	 	(29,503) 	33,486	

				Other	provisions 	67,561	 	121,688	 	-	 	189,249	

$  740,979 $  963,243 $  (605,070) $  1,099,152 
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14. COMMISSIONS AND FEES ON FIDUCIARY TRANSACTIONS, NET

15. SALARIES AND BENEFITS

During	the	year,	an	amount	of	$1,872,000	(2015:	$1,170,000)	was	paid	to	the	staff	as	profit	share	and	bonus.

2016 2015

WCA.net	fees $ 	3,416,552	 $ 	2,523,202	

Brokerage	and	currency	exchange	services 	1,288,436	 	1,451,174	

Custody	services 	568,049	 	411,468	

Strutctured	operations 	924,953	 	556,023	

Total fees on fiduciary transactions, net  6,197,990  4,941,867 

WCA.net	charges	and	commissions 	(326,973) (257,977)

Brokerage	charges	and	commissions 	(81,294) 	(17,903)

Custody	charges	and	commissions 	(113,054) 	(88,118)

Commissions	on	structured	operations 	(43,500) 	-			

Total cost related with fees on fiduciary transactions,net $  (564,821) $  (363,998)

2016 2015

Professional	advisors $ 	1,304,024	 $ 	1,159,486	

Other	expenses 	744,009	 	523,605	

Marketing	expenses 	553,150	 	456,360	

Travel 	327,888	 	323,561	

Bad	debts 	361,235	 	285,306	

Rent	(*) 	244,325	 	211,547	

Directors'	fees	and	expenses 	221,379	 	201,563	

Licenses	and	fees 	172,024	 	165,526	

Utilities 	113,901	 	136,268	

Insurance 	123,586	 	127,983	

Maintenance 	122,963	 	126,398	

$  4,288,484 $  3,717,603 

16. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES

(*)	Rent	mainly	comprises	the	lease	contract	of	the	Shiffel	Corp	office	for	USD	10,000	annual,	lease	contract	of	Hong	Kong	
office	for	HKD	1,171,800	(eq	to	USD	150,000	aprox)	and	other	expenses	associated	with	the	referred	contracts.
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Article	93	of	the	Uruguayan	Company	Law	(Law	16.060)	establishes	that	companies	must	contribute	at	least	5%	of	the	annual	
net	profits	towards	the	creation	of	a	legal	reserve	until	the	reserve	reaches	the	equivalent	of	20%	of	the	relevant	Company’s	
paid	in	capital.		This	includes	share	capital	and	contributed	surplus.

2016 2015

Opening	balances:

		Legal	reserve $ 	55,449	 $ 	44,598	

		Reserve	for	tax	exoneration 	97,893	 	83,893	

 153,342  128,491 
Additions	(reductions):

		Legal	reserve 	3,296	 	10,851	

		Reserve	for	tax	exoneration 	-	 	14,000	

 3,296  24,851 
Closing	balances:

		Legal	reserve 	58,745	 	55,449	

		Reserve	for	tax	exoneration 	97,893	 	97,893	

$  156,638 $  153,342 

20. LEGAL RESERVES

18. DIVIDENDS

Dividends	are	accounted	for	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	declared	by	the	Group’s	Board	of	Directors.

On	June	30,	2016,	dividends	of	$	2	per	share	(total	dividends	$5,000,000)	were	declared	(2015:	$0.80	per	share	totaling	
$2,000,000).

19. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

This	represents	capital	funding	received	from	the	shareholders	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	for	purchase	of	
90%	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	(Hong	Kong)	Limited	on	May	22,	2009.

17. FINANCIAL INCOME

2016 2015

Interest	earned $ 	1,205,213	 $ 	623,068	

Return	on	investments	(capital	gains) 	262,917	 	(287,025)

Result	of	the	change	in	FX	rates 	(21,527) 	(276,736)

$ 	1,446,603	 $ 	59,307	
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21. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related	parties	include	officers,	directors,	shareholders	and	other	companies	with	common	ownership.		Where	these	related	
parties	have	the	authority	and	responsibility	 for	directing	and	controlling	the	authorities	of	other	companies	 (established	
to	participate	 in	the	Group’s	business	activities),	 these	entities	are	also	regarded	as	related	parties	 in	these	consolidated	
financial	statements.		Entities	administered	by	the	Group	on	behalf	of	clients	where	the	Group	also	provides	directors	are	
not	considered	related	parties.

Balances	and	transactions	with	related	parties:

2016 2015

Balances:

				Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets	

								Accounts	with	related	entities	 $ 	951,865	 $ 	921,337	

								Loans	to	staff	-	key	management	personnel	 $ 	75,958	 $ 	115,130	

								Provision	for	staff	benefits	and	training	expenses $ 	1,291,755	 $ 	645,172	

Transactions:

				Salaries	and	benefits	-	key	management	personnel $ 	1,734,581	 $ 	1,512,468	

				Employee	profit	participation	-	key	management	personnel $ 	1,291,755	 $ 	645,172	

22. TAXATION

The	 Winterbotham	 Trust	 Company	 (Uruguay)	 S.A.	 and	 its	 wholly	 owned	 subsidiary	 Winterbotham	 Fiduciaria	 S.A.	
Administradora	de	Fondos	de	Inversión	are	domiciled	in	Uruguay	and	subject	to	Uruguayan	tax	laws.		The	tax	regime	in	
place	in	Uruguay	includes	personal	and	corporate	income	tax.

Uruguayan	tax	law	is	applied	on	a	territorial	basis	as	opposed	to	a	universal	taxation	system	which	determines	that	where	the	
company	is	doing	business,	receiving	income	and/or	holding	its	assets	(i.e.	has	Uruguayan	source	income	and	assets)	within	
Uruguayan	territory	is	subject	to	tax	at	the	following	rates:

a. Income	Tax		(“IRAE”) 25%

b. Tax	on	net	worth	of	corporations 1.5%

c. Sales	or	Value	Added	Tax	(VAT) 10%	or	22%

Where	a	company	has	Uruguayan	source	income,	it	will	have	to	pay	a	minimum	monthly	tax	or	IRAE	at	a	rate	of	25%	of	its	
taxable	net	income	as	an	advance	(please	refer	to	point	(a)	above)	the	amount	of	which	will	depend	on	the	level	of	its	prior	
year’s	taxable	net	operating	income.

Withholding	tax	on	interest	payments	for	loans	granted	by	foreign	lenders,	which	do	not	operate	locally	in	Uruguay,	shall	be	
applied	at	the	rate	of	12%.

Payment	of	dividends:	Dividend	payments	are	subject	to	a	7%	withholding	tax.
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2016 2015

Profit	before	tax $ 	152,652	 $ 	10,763	

Fiscal	adjustment	for	inflation 	-	 	(37,495)

Fiscal	loss	from	previous	year 	(128,952) 	-	

Non-deductible	expense 	(12,540) 	59,311	

Taxable profit $  11,160 $  32,579 

Income tax using corporate tax rate (25%) $  2,790 $  8,145 

23. INCOME TAX

Companies	subject	to	Corporate	Income	Tax	are	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	(Uruguay)	S.A	(rate	25%),	its	subsidiary	
Winterbotham	Fiduciaria	S.A.	Administradora	de	Fondos	de	 Inversion	 (rate	25%)	and	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	
(Hong	Kong)	Limited	(rate	16.5%).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The	 deferred	 tax	 stated	 corresponds	 to	 differences	 between	 book	 and	 tax	 values	 of	 fixed	 assets	 originated	mainly	 by	
differences	of	valuation	and	depreciation	criteria.

The	deferred	tax	is	the	tax	expected	to	be	paid	or	recovered	based	on	the	differences	existing	between	the	book	value	of	
an	asset	or	liability,	and	its	tax	value.

Assets	for	deferred	tax,	as	at	June	30,	2016,	arise	from	applying	the	tax	rate	in	force	at	that	moment	(25%)	on	the	temporary	
taxable	differences	of	US$	33,150	(2015:	US$39,370),	which	correspond	mainly	to	the	different	valuation	criteria	and	fixed	
assets	depreciation	criteria.

Assets	for	deferred	tax	are	recognized	as	long	as	the	entity	is	likely	to	have	fiscal	earnings	against	which	to	use	the	deductible	
temporary	differences.		Liabilities	for	deferred	tax	are	normally	recognized	for	all	the	temporary	taxable	differences.

Assets	and	liabilities	for	deferred	tax	are	offset	when	related	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	tax	authority	and	the	entity	
seeks	to	liquidate	its	assets	and	liabilities	current	tax	on	a	net	basis.

As	of	June	30,	2016,	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	attributable	to	the	following:

Double	 taxation	 treaties:	 Uruguay	 has	 signed	 double-taxation	 agreements	 with	 the	 following	 states:	 	 Germany,	 Spain,	
Hungary,	Mexico,	Switzerland,	Portugal,	Liechtenstein,	Ecuador,	Malta,	India,	Korea,	Argentina	and	Finland.

Additionally,	Uruguay	has	signed	tax	information	exchange	agreements	with:	France,	Denmark,	Greenland,	Iceland,	Faroe	
Islands,	Norway	and	Sweden.
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Deferred	tax	recognized	for	the	period:

Taxation	breakdown	as	to	June	30,2016:

         Assets

2016 Charge for
 the year

Conversion 
adjustment

2015

Temporary	differences	arising	from	differences	in

			Fixed	assets'	valuation	and	depreciation	criteria $ 	11,724	 $ 	(4,044) $ 	-	 $ 	15,768	

Temporary	differences	for	unused	tax	losses 	21,426	 	(1,858) 	(318) 	23,602	

$  33,150 $  (5,902) $  (318) $  39,370 

24. FIDUCIARY OPERATIONS

At	 June	30,	2016,	The	Winterbotham	Merchant	Bank,	 a	division	of	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	used	 for	
banking	activities,	and	the	Winterbotham	International	Securities	a	division	of	the	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited	
used	 for	brokerage	activities,	had	entered	 into	fiduciary	agreements	 for	an	aggregate	amount	of	$1,455,554,145	 (2015:	
$1,080,544,589).		The	clients	bear	all	risk	and	responsibility	for	activities	carried	out	by	the	entity	on	their	behalf	under	these	
contracts.		The	depositors	agree	to	indemnify	and	hold	harmless	The	Winterbotham	Trust	Company	Limited,	its	directors,	
employees,	agents	and	representatives	against	all	liability,	losses	or	damages	arising	out	of	or	in	connection	with	the	fiduciary	
agreement.

2016 2015

Current	tax	charges:

						Income	tax	using	corporate	tax	rate	(25%) $ 	2,790	 $ 	8,145	

						Tax	on	net	worth	of	corporations 	73,564	 	114,556	

						Sales	or	Value	Added	Tax	(VAT) 	149,101	 	155,849	

Total current tax $  225,455 $  278,550 

Deferred tax $  5,902 $  32,755 

Total current plus deferred Tax $  231,357 $  311,305 
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details	 of	 the	 significant	 accounting	 policies	 and	methods	 adopted,	 including	 the	 criteria	 for	 recognition,	 the	 basis	 of	
measurement	 and	 the	 basis	 on	which	 income	 and	 expenses	 are	 recognized,	 in	 respect	 of	 each	 class	 of	 financial	 asset,	
financial	liability	and	equity	instruments	are	disclosed	in	Note	3	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements.
 
	The	following	table	analyzes	the	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	as	defined	by	IAS	39	Financial	
Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement:

2016

FVTPL
Loans and
receivables

Available
for sale

Amortized
cost Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	39,792,132	 $ 	39,792,132	

			Accounts	receivables,	net $ 	-	 $ 	1,366,068	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	1,366,068	

			Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets $ 	-	 $ 	1,096,699	 $ 	-			 $ 	641,456	 $ 	1,738,155	

			Repurchase	agreements $ 	-	 $ 	1,279,790	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	1,279,790	

			Investments $ 	1,443,446	 $ 	-	 $ 	- $ 	777,709	 $ 	2,221,155	

			Security	deposits $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	570,600	 $ 	570,600	

Totals $  1,443,446 $  3,742,557 $  -   $  41,781,897 $  46,967,900 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

			Call	accounts $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	27,715,035	 $ 	27,715,035	

			Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	3,970,043	 $ 	3,970,043	

			Loans	and	interest	payable $ - $ 	-	 $ - $ 	291,875	 $ 	291,875	

			Advances	from	clients $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	707,349	 $ 	707,349	

			Dividends	payable $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	5,000,000	 $ 	5,000,000	

			Fees	received	in	advance $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	2,075,683	 $ 	2,075,683	

Totals $ - $ - $ - $  39,759,985 $  39,759,985 

36



2015

FVTPL
Loans and
receivables

Available
for sale

Amortized
cost Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	37,171,687	 $ 	37,171,687	

			Accounts	receivables,	net $ 	-	 $ 	1,289,359	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	1,289,359	

			Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets $ 	-	 $ 	1,036,467	 $ 	-			 $ 	436,225	 $ 	1,472,692	

			Repurchase	agreements $ 	-	 $ 	910,401	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	910,401	

			Investments $ 	968,323	 $ 	-	 $ 	- $ 	800,012	 $ 	1,768,335	

			Security	deposits $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	644,972	 $ 	644,972	

Totals $  968,323 $ 3,236,227 $  -   $ 39,052,896 $  43,257,446 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

			Call	accounts $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	28,485,148	 $ 	28,485,148	

			Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	2,898,938	 $ 	2,898,938	

			Loans	and	interest	payable $ - $ 	-	 $ - $ 	260,665	 $ 	260,665	

			Advances	from	clients $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	1,236,150	 $ 	1,236,150	

			Dividends	payable $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	2,000,000	 $ 	2,000,000	

			Fees	received	in	advance $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	-			 $ 	1,908,612	 $ 	1,908,612	

Totals $ - $ - $ - $ 36,789,513 $  36,789,513 

At	June	30,	2016	there	were	no	assets	and	liabilities	that	were	classified	as	held-to-maturity.		The	following	table	shows	con-
solidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	information	on	financial	instruments:

2016 2015

INTEREST	INCOME:

			Loans	and	receivables $ 	5,348	 $ 	9,307	

			Amortized	cost $ 	1,205,213	 $ 	623,068	

DIVIDEND	INCOME:	

			FVTPL $ 	181	 $ 	212	
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The	following	table	provides	an	analysis	of	financial	instruments	that	are	measured	subsequent	to	initial	recognition	at	fair	
value,	grouped	into	Levels	1	to	3	based	on	the	degree	to	which	the	fair	value	is	observable:

•	 Level	1	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	
identical	assets	or	liabilities;

•	 Level	2	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	
Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(i.e.	as	prices)	or	indirectly	(i.e.	derived	
from	prices);	and

•	 Level	3	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	valuation	techniques	that	include	inputs	for	the	
asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(unobservable	inputs).

 

There	were	no	transfers	between	any	of	the	levels	in	the	current	period.

26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

       2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial	assets	at	fair	value

			through	profit	and	loss

			Quoted	equities $ 	1,443,446	 $ 	-	 $ -	   $ 	1,443,446	

Available-for-sale	financial	assets

			Precious	metals	(commodities) 	2,880,999	 	-	 	-	 	2,880,999	

Total $  4,324,445 $  - $ - $  4,324,445 

       2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial	assets	at	fair	value

			through	profit	and	loss

			Quoted	equities $ 	968,323	 $ 	-	 $ -	   $ 	968,323	

Available-for-sale	financial	assets

			Precious	metals	(commodities) 	2,521,981	 	-	 	-	 	2,521,981	

Total $  3,490,304 $  - $ - $  3,490,304 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT

June 30,
2016
US$

June 30,
2015
US$

ASSETS:

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents 0.46% 0.16%

			Repurchase	agreements 8.50% 8.50%

2016

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $ 	3,563,071	 $ 	175,209	 $ 	3,147,325	 $ 	1,404,724	 $ 	37,539,729	 $ 	329,120	 $ 	808,722	 $ 	46,967,900	

Liabilities 	3,519,875	 	192,530	 	3,294,700	 	1,019,142	 	31,030,330	 	38,886	 	664,521	 	39,759,984	

Coverage $  43,196 $  (17,321) $  (147,375) $  385,582 $  6,509,399 $  290,234 $  144,201 $  7,207,916 

2015

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $ 	1,753,796	 $ 	339,951	 $ 	4,226,333	 $ 	1,440,432	 $ 	28,493,846	 $ 	254,834	 $ 	662,495	 $ 	37,171,687	

Liabilities 	1,679,951	 	297,871	 	3,485,577	 	1,123,569	 	21,459,863	 	13,340	 	424,977	 	28,485,148	

Coverage $  73,845 $  42,080 $  740,756 $  316,863 $  7,033,983 $  241,494 $  237,518 $  8,686,539 

The	Group	engages	in	transactions	that	expose	it	to	various	risks	in	the	normal	course	of	business.		These	risks	include	capital	
risk,	market	risk,	including	interest	rate	risk	and	foreign	exchange	risk,	credit	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	fiduciary	risk	management.		
The	Group’s	financial	performance	is	dependent	on	its	ability	to	understand	and	effectively	manage	these	risks.

a.	Capital	risk	-	The	Group	manages	its	capital	to	ensure	that	it	will	be	able	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	while	maximizing	
the	return	to	stakeholders	through	the	optimization	of	the	debt	and	equity	balance.		The	Group’s	overall	strategy	remains	
unchanged	 since	 2015.	 	 The	 capital	 structure	 of	 the	Group	 consists	 of	 net	 debt	 (call	 accounts	 offset	 by	 cash	 and	 cash	
equivalents)	and	equity	attributable	to	equity	holders	of	 the	Group,	comprising	 issued	capital,	contributed	surplus,	 legal	
reserves,	revaluation	reserves	and	retained	earnings	as	disclosed	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	changes	in	equity.

b.	Market	risk	-	Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	an	instrument	or	the	cash	flows	from	an	instrument	will	fluctuate	as	
a	result	of	changes	in	market	prices.		The	main	market	risks	are	interest	rate	risk	and	foreign	exchange	risk.		The	Group	enters	
into	a	variety	of	financial	instruments	to	manage	its	exposure	to	this	risk.

i. Interest rate risk - The	Group	is	exposed	to	cash	flow	and	fair	value	interest	rate	risk	on	cash	and	cash	equivalents	
and	reverse	repurchase	agreements.		The	Group	manages	this	risk	by	consistent	monitoring	of	interest	rate	fluctuations.

ii. Foreign exchange risk - This	is	the	risk	of	loss	resulting	from	foreign	currency	translation.		Currency	risk	is	managed	
by	matching	liabilities	with	assets	within	the	same	currency	whenever	possible.		The	following	table	shows	the	USD	
equivalent	of	all	currencies	held:
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c. Credit risk - The	Group	is	exposed	to	credit	risk	in	respect	of	losses	that	would	have	to	be	recognized	if	counterparties	
fail	to	perform	as	contracted.

The	Group’s	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	primarily	in	respect	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	accounts	receivable,	prepaid	expenses	
and	other	assets,	repurchase	agreements	and	investments.		As	at	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date,	the	
Group’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	equal	to	the	carrying	amount	of	the	above	assets	disclosed	in	the	consolidated	
statement	of	financial	position.		The	repurchase	agreements	are	adequately	collateralized	by	pledges	of	assets	managed	by	
the	Group	on	behalf	of	the	borrowers.

2016 2015

CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS:

   Neither past due or impaired $  39,792,132 $  37,171,687 

ACCOUNTS	RECEIVABLE:

   Neither past due or impaired $  378,123 $  502,304 

   Past due not impaired $  647,800 $  556,609 

   Impaired $  968,290 $  591,845 

Certain	receivable	balances	include	fees	invoiced	in	advance	but	not	accrued	as	to	June	30,	2016.		This	portion	of	accounts	
receivable	are	not	considered	when	creating	the	provision	for	bad	debts.		Similarly,	some	of	the	receivable	balances	include	
the	request	for	the	corresponding	Company	Annual	Government	Fee.	This	amount	does	not	represent	a	receivable	risk	for	
the	Company	as	it	will	only	be	paid	to	the	Registrar	of	Companies	if	duly	settled	by	the	client.		Therefore	these	amounts	are	
not	considered	when	creating	the	provision	for	bad	debts.

2016 2015

REVERSE	REPURCHASE	AGREEMENTS:

   Neither past due or impaired $  1,279,790 $  910,401 

SECURITY	DEPOSITS:

   Neither past due or impaired $  570,600 $  644,972 
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d. Liquidity risk	-	Liquidity	risk	arises	when	the	Group	has	to	meet	its	obligations	on	borrowed	funds	and	deposits.		The	
Group	manages	its	liquidity	risk	by	matching	as	far	as	possible	liabilities	with	assets	of	similar	maturity	periods.
 
	Assets	and	 liabilities	are	due	 to	mature	based	on	 the	period	 remaining	 to	maturity	 from	the	consolidated	statement	of	
financial	position	date,	as	follows:

June 30, 2016

No set 

maturity	/	Up

	to	3	months

3	-	6

months

Over	6

months Total

ASSETS:	

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents $ 	39,792,132	 $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	39,792,132	

			Accounts	receivable,	net 	1,025,923	 	-	 	340,145	 	1,366,068	

			Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets 	786,190	 	-	 	951,965	 	1,738,155	

			Reverse	repurchase	agreements 	1,279,790	 		- - 	1,279,790	

			Investments 	5,102,154	 - 	-	 	5,102,154	

			Security	deposits 	-	 	-	 	570,600	 	570,600	

			Deferred	tax	assets 	-	 	-	 	33,150	 	33,150	

$  47,986,189 $  - $  1,895,860 $  49,882,049 

LIABILITIES:

			Call	accounts $ 	27,715,035	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	27,715,035	

			Accounts	payable	and

						accrued	liabilities 	3,970,043	 	-			 	-	 	3,970,043	

			Loans	and	interest	payable 	-	 - 	291,875	 	291,875	

			Dividends	payable 	5,000,000	 - 	-	 	5,000,000	

			Advances	from	clients 	-	 	-			 	707,349	 	707,349	

			Fees	received	in	advance 	-	 	-			 	2,075,683	 	2,075,683	

$  36,685,078 $  -   $  3,074,907 $  39,759,985 
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e. Fiduciary risk management	-	The	Group	is	engaged	in	significant	custodial	and	fiduciary	activities	that	give	rise	to	the	risk	
that	it	will	be	accused	of	mal-administration	or	non-compliance	with	the	wishes	of	its	clients.		To	manage	this	exposure,	the	
Group	generally	takes	a	conservative	approach	in	its	undertakings.

f. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities -	The	fair	value	is	the	amount	for	which	an	asset	could	be	exchanged,	or	a	
liability	settled,	between	knowledgeable,	willing	parties	in	an	arm’s	length	transaction.		Underlying	the	definition	of	fair	value	
is	 the	presumption	that	the	Group	 is	a	going	concern	without	any	 intention	or	need	to	 liquidate,	 reduce	the	scale	of	 its	
operations	or	undertake	a	transaction	on	adverse	terms.

In	the	opinion	of	management,	the	estimated	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	(cash	and	cash	equivalents,	
accounts	 receivable,	 repurchase	 agreements,	 investments,	 prepaid	 expenses	 and	 other	 assets,	 call	 accounts,	 accounts	
payable	and	accrued	liabilities	and	other	liabilities)	at	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date	were	not	materially	
different	from	their	carrying	value	due	to	their	short	term	nature.

June 30, 2015

No set 

maturity	/	Up

	to	3	months

3	-	6

months

Over	6

months Total

ASSETS:	

			Cash	and	cash	equivalents $ 	37,171,687	 $ 	-	 $ 	-	 $ 	37,171,687	

			Accounts	receivable,	net 	1,058,913	 	-	 	230,446	 	1,289,359	

			Prepaid	expenses	and	other	assets 	1,472,692	 	-	 	-	 	1,472,692	

			Reverse	repurchase	agreements 	910,401	   	910,401	

			Investments 	4,290,016	 - 	-	 	4,290,016	

			Security	deposits 	-	 	-	 	644,972	 	644,972	

			Deferred	tax	assets 	-	 	-	 	39,370	 	39,370	

$  44,903,709 $  - $  914,788 $  45,818,497 

LIABILITIES:

			Call	accounts $ 	28,485,148	 $ 	-			 $ 	-	 $ 	28,485,148	

			Accounts	payable	and

						accrued	liabilities 	2,898,938	 	-			 	-	 	2,898,938	

			Loans	and	interest	payable 	-	 - 	260,665	 	260,665	

			Dividends	payable 	2,000,000	 - 	-	 	2,000,000	

			Advances	from	clients 	-	 	-			 	1,236,150	 	1,236,150	

			Fees	received	in	advance 	-	 	-			 	1,908,612	 	1,908,612	

$  33,384,086 $  -   $  3,405,427 $  36,789,513 
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